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            Further praise for Freud’s Pandemics: Surviving Global War, Spanish Flu, and the Nazis

            “Professor Kahr has written so lovingly about Freud’s personal crises, his pandemics, and his struggle to survive. The end product is irresistible, engrossing, and captivating. It is hard to put this book down. I wanted to read more and more. I couldn’t stop reading it! And I recommend it wholeheartedly.” Ilonka Venier Alexander, granddaughter of Freud’s early disciple Franz Alexander (1891-1964), and author of Growing Up Alexander: My Life with a Psychoanalytic Pioneer.

            “In this extraordinary volume, meticulously researched and compellingly written, Brett Kahr explores the traumatological backdrop of the life of Freud, deftly revealing its impact on his work and showcasing the richly complex foundation of psychoanalysis. This is a page-turning read but one that is always sensitive, nuanced, and insightful. It brilliantly illuminates the role of history in shaping resilience, inviting the reader into a curious new encounter with Freud’s experience and into a more creative response to the times in which we find ourselves living.” Professor Caroline Bainbridge, Professor Emerita of Culture and Psychoanalysis, University of Roehampton, London, and Co-Founder, Psychoanalysis Club on Clubhouse.

            “What an amazing work! In this evocative and timely book – part documentary, part biography and part thriller – Professor Brett Kahr brilliantly recounts how Sigmund Freud dealt with the personal and professional challenges of his own “pandemics” and how these events influenced some of his most important theories. The lessons that we can learn from Freud’s personal challenges can help us to assist our patients to confront and cope with mass trauma today. This book is a “must read” for anyone interested in the psychological effects of COVID-19 and how psychoanalysis can help us navigate mental health challenges. Professor Robert Bor, Lead Psychologist, Royal Free Hampstead NHS Foundation Trust and Director, Centre for Aviation Psychology, and Consulting Psychologist, Leaders in Oncology Care and the London Clinic.

            “A vivid account of how Sigmund Freud coped with the great “pandemics” of his time, from the Great War and Spanish Flu to cancer and the Nazis. By assessing how my great-grandfather might have addressed COVID-19, the pandemic of our own times, Professor Kahr opens up a series of insights into the life of the man who championed the radical innovation of actually listening to people suffering from mental affliction. Meticulously researched, and written with real pace, this book is a timely reminder of the psychological roots of our response to national trauma.” Lord Freud, great-grandson of Sigmund Freud and President of the Freud Museum London.

            “Never has there been a time when Freud was needed so badly. Post-pandemic blues would not have been new to Freud as Brett Kahr describes in his phenomenal book, which I feel was sent to save us from confusion and turmoil. A must read!” Jane McAdam Freud, artist, and daughter of Lucian Freud, and great-granddaughter of Sigmund Freud.

            “Brett Kahr’s immersion in Freud – the gift that keeps on giving – will help us survive the trauma of pandemics in our own lives. Kahr draws insightful parallels from Freud’s own struggles and serves as a timely and fascinating reminder of the ubiquitous nature of pandemics and why suicide isn’t the answer.” Professor the Baroness Hollins, Past President, British Medical Association, and Past President, Royal College of Psychiatrists, and Professor Emerita, St. George’s Hospital Medical School, University of London. ii

            “During the COVID pandemic, Brett Kahr dove into the archives so as to remind us how Western life not so long ago meant nearly constant, grievous loss. Invisible enemies like the “Spanish” flu, tuberculous, and pneumonia, operations that were eviscerations, complicated pregnancies, even seemingly benign habits like smoking, all these early twentieth century realities spelled doom. If we are to learn the right lessons from our own global disaster, we would benefit from recalling the lives of those who – before antibiotics and mass immunizations – endured, such as Kahr’s brilliant, stoical Sigmund Freud.” Professor George Makari, Professor of Psychiatry and Director of the DeWitt Wallace Institute of Psychiatry: History, Policy, and the Arts, Weill Cornell Medical College, New York, New York, and the author of Revolution in Mind: The Creation of Psychoanalysis.

            “The world at present is full of far too many specialist groups or cults, whether psychologists, psychoanalysts, leaders, managers, coaches, consultants, historians, or experts on gender and race, with everyone keen to belong to one community or the other, often denying the insights and the worth of the others. Brett Kahr is unique in having avoided these elephant traps; instead, he has managed to retain a 360-degree picture of the global scene and he shares this with readers, thus providing an excellent foundation of how we might all pull together for a better future globally. I strongly recommend this book.” Dr. Anton Obholzer, Emeritus Director and Chief Executive, Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust, London, and Senior Faculty Member, Advanced Management Programme, INSEAD Global Leadership Centre, Paris, whose books include The Unconscious at Work: A Tavistock Approach to Making Sense of Organizational Life and, also, Workplace Intelligence: Unconscious Forces and How to Manage Them.

            “Genius rises above historical boundaries, consequently, Freud is all too often plucked and sanitised from the terrible times he endured. It takes the brilliant polymath Brett Kahr – a gifted historian and psychoanalytic practitioner – to locate him so eloquently and painstakingly in the pandemics of his day. Through this unique lens, our understanding of COVID, Freud, and psychoanalytic trauma theory dramatically expands with the rich benefit of primary sources, some of which have never been seen before. A triumph!” Dr. Valerie Sinason, Member, British Psychoanalytical Society, and Emeritus Consultant Child and Adolescent Psychotherapist, Tavistock Clinic, London, and Anna Freud Centre, and author of The Truth About Trauma and Dissociation: Everything You Didn’t Want to Know and Were Afraid to Ask.

            “What a great book! Digging deep into the archives, Brett Kahr has unearthed a treasure trove of stories and has used his remarkable skills to tell a deeply engaging tale and to provide an unflinching look at the darkest hours in the life of Sigmund Freud. Thanks to Kahr’s book, we are now able to appreciate Sigmund Freud’s genius even more. Kahr has generously synthesized his findings in elegant prose, and has offered us an inspiring story of hope, most pertinent for our troubled times.” Dr. med. Sebastian Thrul, Senior Psychiatrist at Psychiatrie Baselland, in Switzerland, and Host of New Books in Psychoanalysis.

            “Kahr holds up Freud’s life and ideas as a mirror to our times and asks how Freud might have viewed the COVID-19 crisis and its formidably destructive psychological consequences. The result is a dazzling tour de force of life writing – judicious, impassioned, and humane – offering that rarest and most precious of things: a new way of understanding Freud and his legacy.” Professor Neil Vickers, Director of the Centre for the Humanities and Health, King’s College London, University of London.
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            FREUD MUSEUM LONDON SERIES

         

         The Freud Museum London and Karnac Books have joined forces to publish a new book series devoted to an examination of the life and work of Sigmund Freud alongside other significant figures in the history of psychoanalysis, psychotherapy, and depth psychology more broadly.

         
             

         

         The series will feature works of outstanding scholarship and readability, including biographical studies, institutional histories, and archival investigations. New editions of historical classics as well as translations of little-known works from the early history of psychoanalysis will also be considered for inclusion.
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            ‘The sense of jeopardy spoils it all – the feeling that one may be flung out into the cess-pool of a world, the danger of being dragged into the foul conglomerate mess, the utter disgust and nausea one feels for humanity, people smelling like bugs, endless masses of them, and no relief: it is so difficult to bear.’ 

            
                

            

            David Herbert Lawrence [D.H. Lawrence],

Letter to Barbara Low, 1 May 1916.1

         

         
            
167Notes


            1. Lawrence, 1916, p. 449.

         

      

   


   
      
         
            Contents

         

         
            
               
	TITLE PAGE

                  	DEDICATION

                  	
EPIGRAPH 

                  	PROLOGUE:

        Fundraising for Freud 

                  	INTRODUCTION:

        ‘Wouldn’t it be better if we all killed ourselves?’ 

                  	CHAPTER 1. The fraudulent Jewish pervert: navigating decades of collegial hatred 

                  	CHAPTER 2. The Great War and the Spanish flu: an imprisoned son and a dying daughter 

                  	CHAPTER 3. From compulsive cigar-smoking to deadly carcinoma: Freud’s battle with physical pain 

                  	CHAPTER 4. Death wishes and the Nazis: how Freud escaped from Austria 

                  	CHAPTER 5. Freud’s recipe for creativity and survival: the writing cure and the role of penetrativity 

                  	CONCLUSION:

        If Sigmund Freud could have supervised Anthony Fauci 

                  	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

                  	SCHOLARLY CLARIFICATIONS 

                  	REFERENCES 

                  	INDEX 

                  	BOOKS BY PROFESSOR BRETT KAHR 

                  	COPYRIGHT 

               



         

      

   


   
      
         
            ‘Selbstmord verurteilte er.’

            
                

            

            [‘He condemned suicide.’]

            
                

            

            Lilly Freud-Marlé, niece of Professor Sigmund Freud, writing about her uncle.

            
                

            

            Lilly Freud-Marlé, Mein Onkel Sigmund Freud: Erinnerungen an eine große Familie, 2006.1

         

         
            Notes

            1. Freud-Marlé, 2006, p. 238.

         

      

   


   
      
         
xi
            Prologue

         

         Fundraising for Freud

         At approximately 7.00 p.m. on Sunday 15 March 2020 – the Idus Martiae – literally, the Ides of March – a day designed to commemorate the anniversary of the assassination of the Roman emperor Julius Caesar in 44 bce – I made a very painful but, also, a very necessary decision.

         After considerable thought and careful discussion with various colleagues in the mental health profession and with several public health epidemiologists, I concluded that after nearly 40 years of working with psychoanalytical patients in person, in my private consulting room, I would now have to transfer all of the sessions of my full-time clinical practice to the telephone in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, which had, by this point, begun to affect London and the surrounding regions in the United Kingdom very significantly.

         I took a deep breath and then rang each of my patients in turn, beginning with those who attend for regular Monday morning appointments, and, over the next several hours, I spoke to every single one of them directly, explaining that in view of this global health emergency, I would, for the foreseeable future, have to host our upcoming sessions by telephone rather than in my cosy, book-lined office in Central London.

         As someone who has worked in the mental health field for rather a long time, I have had the privilege of coming to know my patients very well; therefore, I strongly suspected that we would, indeed, be able to manage this transition and that, in the interests of physical safety, we had no other option. Thankfully, each one of my loyal and sensible patients agreed to the plan.

         During the week of Monday 16 March 2020, many of my colleagues in the mental health profession still continued to greet patients in their offices, face-to-face, but, as the coronavirus infection rate and the death toll began to climb with alarming speed, virtually every fellow practitioner, xiiwhether a psychiatrist, a psychotherapist, a psychoanalyst, a counsellor or a psychologist, eventually ceased working from his or her consulting room and subsequently transferred all of his or her treatment sessions onto Zoom or the telephone. Even our venerated psychoanalytical clinics in London, such as the Portman Clinic, where I had trained decades previously, and the nearby Tavistock Centre (formerly the Tavistock Clinic), where I had trained and then taught over many years, had to shut and lock their doors completely. This proved particularly stressful and poignant for my colleagues at the Tavistock Centre, many of whom had already invested a great deal of time and energy into the planning of the clinic’s upcoming centenary celebrations, which, alas, would have to be postponed indefinitely.

         On Tuesday 17 March 2020, one day after the closure of these iconic mental health clinics, I received an email from my longstanding colleague, Ms Carol Seigel, the Director of the Freud Museum London – the former private residence of Professor Sigmund Freud, and now a wonderful cultural institution which both celebrates and explores the legacy of this great man – to inform me and my fellow museum Trustees that, with effect from Wednesday 18 March 2020, this famous house in North West London, located round the corner from the Tavistock Centre, would also have to close its doors.

         As a lifelong fan of the founder of psychoanalysis, I have enjoyed a multi-decade relationship with the Freud Museum, having attended its opening ceremony back in 1986 in the presence of Her Royal Highness Princess Alexandra, The Honourable Mrs Ogilvy, cousin to Her Majesty The Queen. I then worked at the museum during its first year of operation, and subsequently, in later life, I became a member of its Board of Trustees for nearly a decade. Over more than 30 years, I have delivered numerous lectures and have hosted many tours at the museum; additionally, I have attended countless conferences, meetings, book launches and parties in the beautiful rooms at 20, Maresfield Gardens, including the wedding of one of my closest friends, as well as the memorial service of one of my dearest fellow practitioners. And, as an historian of psychoanalysis, I have spent hundreds, if not thousands, of hours curled up in Freud’s study, examining his many surviving books and periodicals as well as exploring the innumerable papers and letters in the museum’s priceless archive collection. Thus, it saddened me greatly that Carol and the staff had to shut down the museum for an indefinite period – the very first xiiitime that this vital British institution had ever done so since its inception nearly 34 years previously.

         Although the museum has always received steady funding from a variety of sources, including several generous donations from its patrons and from a range of charitable organisations, the bulk of its income has always derived from live, in-person visits from members of the public, many of whom will have travelled across the globe to immerse themselves in this iconic psychological building. But now, in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, the museum could no longer welcome members of the general public inside and would, thus, struggle to earn any revenue at all.

         Not long after the closure of that blessed historical house, I received a request from the museum’s Head of Events, Ms Lili Spain, inviting me to present an ‘online webinar’ to help raise some money to preserve Freud’s former residence. Although I have delivered literally thousands of lectures throughout my career, I had never before spoken to a large group of people from my laptop, via Zoom. But, keen to assist the museum in this fundraising endeavour, I decided that I would, at last, have to enter the world of twenty-first-century technology, and I therefore agreed to present an online talk on ‘How Freud Would Have Handled the Coronavirus: Lessons from a Beacon of Survival’.1 This seemed to be the most potentially relevant of topics. Indeed, in view of the growing horror of the COVID-19 pandemic, and everyone’s second-by-second preoccupation with the spiking infection rate and the mounting death toll worldwide, I could not imagine that my colleagues and I would be able to engage with any topic other than this one.

         Happily, Ms Alice Rosenbaum, the museum’s Digital Manager, and Ms Jamie Ruers, the Events Manager, offered me a crash course on how to install the Zoom platform, and then, on Friday 19 June 2020, I delivered my very first online presentation. Naively, I assumed that the audience would consist predominantly of the local London-based community of museum supporters, including some of my longstanding fellow mental health practitioners; but, thanks to the wonders of email and social media, I soon discovered that this talk had attracted large numbers of attendees from Iran, and Pakistan and the United Arab Emirates – indeed, from all over the planet. Some of those who signed up for this online lecture had already lost their jobs due to the pandemic and hence could not afford to pay more than £1 sterling for a ticket. But others made kindly and generous financial donations to the museum; and one of my most xivgracious colleagues gifted quite a large amount of money, to our great surprise and delight. It pleased me tremendously that I could assist the Freud Museum London with the raising of some much-needed funds to help keep its staff members, many of whom I have known for decades, on salary.

         When I accepted the invitation to present this webinar, I planned to deliver a relatively short lecture, no more than 50 minutes in length. I certainly had not expected that I would have either the desire or, indeed, the energy to transform my Zoom musings into a full-length book. But, in truth, as I immersed myself more and more deeply into the topic of Freud and the coronavirus, I became increasingly impressed by the ways in which that extraordinary man had, most bravely, survived multiple pandemics of his own; and I soon came to realise that we can still learn a great deal from this brilliant pioneer of modern psychology, even though he died in 1939. Hence, I have delved back into the archives, and, in the pages that follow, I shall present a narrative of Freud’s own personal struggle with a welter of near-death experiences.

         Although many biographers and historians have chronicled the innumerable ugly episodes in the life of Sigmund Freud,2 not all have explored the truly eviscerating impact of each of his incomparable challenges. For instance, when discussing the death of Freud’s beloved daughter, Frau Sophie Freud Halberstadt, who succumbed to the Spanish flu in 1920, Dr Ernest Jones, the noted psychoanalyst and biographer, reported on her passing far too concisely: ‘it was the influenzal pneumonia so rife in that year.’3 Although Jones, who had trained as a physician, knew about the Spanish flu only too acutely, he failed to examine the devastating consequences of this global pandemic, not least on Freud and his family.

         In fact, this book might well be the first exclusively traumatologically orientated biographical portrait of Freud, focusing predominantly on the horrors that he had to endure over many decades and on the psychological cost of such dreadful events. We will consider not only the burdens and the threats that marred Freud’s daily existence, but also the ways in which psychoanalysis can help us all to cope, to survive and, even, to thrive during the very worst of times.

         In view of the numerous pandemics that Sigmund Freud had to navigate, ranging from the Spanish flu of 1918 to the Nazi invasion of Austria in 1938, he certainly had every reason to throw in the towel. But, xvin spite of these dreadful events, he persevered with the living of his life. I have found Freud’s lust for survival to be quite inspiring, and thus I hope to share the richness of his inner world, keen for us all to benefit from the unique insights and capacities and resiliencies of the father of modern psychology. xvi

         
            Notes

            1. Kahr, 2020g, 2020h.

            2. Edmundson, 2007; Cohen, 2009; Fry, 2009.

            3. Jones, 1957, p. 19.

         

      

   


   
      
         
1
            Introduction

         

         ‘Wouldn’t it be better if we all killed ourselves?’

         On Tuesday 22 March 1938, Professor Sigmund Freud, the 81-year-old progenitor of psychoanalysis, had to endure, undoubtedly, the most horrific six hours of his entire existence.

         Only ten days previously, on the morning of Saturday 12 March 1938, Germany’s murderous army, the Wehrmacht, invaded Austria, and its troops began goose-stepping and driving menacing tanks through the streets. As one eyewitness recalled ‘The whole city changed overnight.’1

         The Nazis immediately placed the Bundeskanzler – the chancellor – Dr Kurt von Schuschnigg, under house arrest and, not long thereafter, transported him to the luxurious Hotel Metropole on the Morzinplatz, the newly commandeered headquarters of the Gestapo, and placed him in solitary confinement,2 watched over by a man described by one commentator as ‘a particularly brutal young Nazi’,3 and then, eventually, they dispatched him to the Sachsenhausen concentration camp for political prisoners.4 With the chancellor imprisoned, the Austrians had no option but to surrender to the Germans; indeed, the Austrian military became immediately absorbed by the German Wehrmacht. As von Schuschnigg lamented, ‘The battle was over.’5

         Within moments of annexing Austria, the Nazis began to humiliate and even torture many of the Viennese Jews. German officers forced Jewish men and women onto their hands and knees in order to clean the streets.6 On one chilling occasion, members of the Sturmabteilung – the Nazi paramilitary movement, known as the SA – burst into the Kaffeehaus Kühn – a coffeehouse located on the Taborstrasse, in Vienna’s Jewish-dominated Leopoldstadt district – and beat the proprietor mercilessly. These psychopathic SA men then forced this terrified Jewish man to lie upon the floor of his own café and drink the contents of the spittoons. In consequence, this innocent person had to spend two 2weeks in hospital,7 riddled, no doubt, with injuries and infections.

         Sigmund Freud, a compulsive reader of the local newspapers, encouraged his housekeeper, Fräulein Paula Fichtl, to purchase a copy of the Abend – Austria’s equivalent of the Evening Standard. After reading merely the headlines, full of tales about the German invasion and about the so-called wonders of Adolf Hitler’s henchman Hermann Göring, and, also, about the slanderous accusations against the Jews, he crumpled the paper and threw it into the corner of the room.8 According to Dr Martin Freud,9 the eldest son of the father of psychoanalysis, Sigmund Freud became utterly devastated by the ‘political convulsions’10 that afflicted Vienna, lamenting the way in which the Nazi invaders regarded the Jews as little more than handicapped beggars or dogs.11

         As the days unfolded, the anti-Semitic hostility became more and more chilling. According to the reminiscences of Frau Esti Freud, one of the daughters-in-law of Sigmund Freud, signs began to appear on Vienna’s coffeehouses: ‘JUDEN UND HUNDE NICHT ZUGELASSEN’12 – in other words ‘JEWS AND DOGS NOT PERMITTED’.13 Herr Stefan Zweig, the noted Austrian writer, recalled that the Nazis would regularly break into homes and rip the earrings off Jewish women; moreover, they would haul elderly Jewish men into synagogues and then force them to engage in knee-bending exercises while shouting ‘Heil Hitler’.14

         Fearful of being tortured or deported to a murderous concentration camp, some of the Jews of Vienna decided to kill themselves. Dr Egon Friedell, a distinguished actor and theatre critic, who had only recently celebrated his 60th birthday, jumped from the third-floor window of his bedroom and crashed to his death on the Semperstraße,15 not far from Freud’s apartment. Although Egon Friedell, a Jew – born Egon Friedemann – had converted to Lutheranism many years previously, he knew that the Nazis would hunt him nonetheless and so, to prevent deportation to a concentration camp where he might well be tortured and executed, he took his own life.16 Tragically, many others followed suit.

         In desperation, and at great speed, Ludwig Nathaniel Freiherr von Rothschild (also known as Louis de Rothschild), one of the world’s richest men, transferred many of his assets to Kuhn, Loeb and Company, the famous Jewish-dominated investment bank in New York City, New York,17 and then dashed to the aerodrome at Aspern, on the outskirts of Vienna, in the hope of escaping the growing menace. Alas, the Nazis confiscated his passport18 and arrested him before he boarded his flight 3and then imprisoned him in a shabby room, consisting of merely an iron bed, a table, a chair and a cupboard,19 in the newly co-opted Nazi headquarters at the Hotel Metropole20 where he would be guarded continuously, to prevent him from committing suicide.21 He would be interrogated by none other than Heinrich Himmler, Reichsführer of the Schutzstaffel (i.e. the leader of the SS).22 Although various members of the British royal family, including Her Majesty Queen Mary,23 the widow of His Majesty King George V, endeavoured to intervene on von Rothschild’s behalf (not least as the Rothschild family had once hosted her son, His Royal Highness Prince Edward – the former monarch, soon to become the Duke of Windsor – at one of their many palaces),24 the Nazis looted his premises and stole many priceless works of art.25 This Jewish aristocrat remained in custody for a very long time – nearly a year or so26 – and may have endured physical torture, which transformed him into ‘a broken, white-haired old man.’27 Eventually, Rothschild gained freedom, but only after having paid an extraordinarily exorbitant ransom.28

         At Berggasse 19, the longstanding home of Sigmund Freud in Vienna’s ninth Bezirk – i.e. district – the family cowered in fear, quite understandably so.29 Freud’s youngest child, Anna Freud, a practising psychoanalyst and theoretician in her own right, described having lain ‘sleepless in bed in the early morning hours, waiting for the dreaded knock of the Gestapo’.30 In fact, in spite of her considerable emotional sturdiness, Fräulein Freud even suggested to her father, ‘Wouldn’t it be better if we all killed ourselves?’,31 terrified that she and her loved ones could do nothing to escape the sadistic menace of the Nazis and that suicide might, therefore, be the only option.

         On Sunday 13 March 1938, shortly after the German invasion of Austria, a band of Nazi thugs – approximately twelve in all – raided the office of Sigmund Freud’s publishing house, the Internationaler Psychoanalytischer Verlag, located at Berggasse 7, a mere stone’s throw from his domestic residence and consulting room at Berggasse 19. These ‘bandits’,32 some armed with revolvers or rifles33 and some with bayonets attached to their firearms,34 stole a great deal of money from the firm and, moreover, held Martin Freud, the eldest of Sigmund Freud’s three sons, hostage. Two of the Nazis hovered over Martin Freud with carbine rifles. One of these treacherous assailants pressed his weapon squarely against the victim’s stomach.35 Another of these sadists threatened Sigmund Freud’s 48-year-old child: ‘Freud, you are lost. No human being on earth 4can help you now.’36 And a further Nazi sympathiser pleaded with his co-conspirators, ‘Why not shoot him and be finished with him? We should shoot him on the spot.’37 Fortunately, after having subjected Martin Freud to so many petrifying threats, these vicious bullies relented and allowed him to live.

         Soon thereafter, several of these brutal men paraded down the Berggasse and smashed their way into the Freud family apartment38 – only doors away – breaking several objects in the process. Frau Professor Martha Freud, the loyal spouse of Sigmund Freud, asked the Nazi invaders to wipe their boots, but, needless to say, they refused to do so;39 and the thugs then confiscated the family’s passports and looted the safe, stealing some 6,000 Austrian Schillings.40 Martha Freud asked these vicious bandits why they required this money, to which one of them replied, in a provocative tone, ‘Zum Aufbau!’41 – in other words, ‘For reconstruction!’.

         One can only imagine the emotional suffering of each member of the Freud family on that day, not least as German bomber planes kept flying overhead throughout the course of this dreadful ordeal,42 thus creating a perilous atmosphere of unsafety.

         Sigmund Freud, then a very physically frail octogenarian, had suffered from metastatic cancer for many years and had already undergone numerous invasive surgical procedures, which resulted in chronic, excruciating physical pains in his oral cavity. In fact, in January 1938, only weeks before the Anschluss, he had developed lockjaw and could not even open his mouth. Hence, Freud had required hospitalisation at the Sanatorium Auersperg and his surgeon, Professor Dr med. Hans Pichler, prescribed Evipan – an anaesthetic – and then excised a lesion which proved to be malignant.43

         With his health in grave peril and with his decades of work under immense threat, Sigmund Freud certainly did not need to endure any further trauma.

         But, in spite of these horrific challenges to his sense of physical security, Freud’s life would soon become infinitely more terrifying.

         On Monday 14 March 1938 – one day after the Nazis had invaded the Berggasse – Adolf Hitler paraded through the streets of Vienna in a Mercedes car, surrounded by the military, while innumerable Austrian Gentiles, who endorsed his vision for a Grossdeutschland – a great Germany44 – fêted and cheered this increasingly menacing dictator. The mobs gathered throughout Vienna, even on the Berggasse, and 5began shouting ‘Heil Hitler, Heil unserem Fuehrer!’.45 In response, Paula Fichtl, the devoted Dienstmädchen (i.e., maid), had stepped outdoors and protested, ‘My Führer is the professor Freud’.46 After emoting such a provocative remark, she then ran back inside the family home at great speed.47 Not long thereafter, Fräulein Fichtl presented her employer with a bouquet of flowers and underscored, ‘Für meinen führer’,48 namely, ‘For my leader’.49

         On the following day, Tuesday 15 March 1938, Adolf Hitler addressed a heaving crowd in Vienna’s Heldenplatz, the public square in front of the Hofburg palace, proclaiming that Austria now belonged to the ‘Deutsche Reich’, having become a province of the German nation.50 By this point, the Jews, quite understandably, had begun to experience even greater fear for their lives.

         Thus, in the midst of the German occupation of Austria, Sigmund Freud had to endure not only the raid on both his publishing house and his private home but, also, threats to the life of his eldest son. Years previously, Martin Freud had nearly died, during the bloody war of 1914–1918;51 therefore, his father must have suffered immeasurable anguish, having to face the possibility of the murder of this young man yet again.

         Additionally, Professor Freud had to bid farewell to the Wiener Psychoanalytische Vereinigung – the Vienna Psycho-Analytical Society – the world’s very first psychoanalytical membership organisation, which he had founded fully 30 years previously, in 1908.52 Indeed, at 3.00 p.m. on Sunday 20 March 1938, Freud’s group of loyal colleagues met in the nearby headquarters at Berggasse 7 – the home not only of his recently invaded publishing firm but, also, of his psychoanalytical society – and signed a formal agreement of dissolution, bequeathing all assets to the Deutsche Psychoanalytische Gesellschaft [German Psycho-Analytical Society], whose secretary, Dr Carl Müller-Braunschweig – a Gentile – also served on the board of directors of the Nazi-run Deutsches Institut für psychologische Forschung und Psychotherapie [German Institute for Psychological Research and Psychotherapy] and who reported to its leader, Dr Matthias Heinrich Göring, the cousin of Adolf Hitler’s primary henchman, Hermann Göring, the Präsident of the Reichstag [President of the German Parliament] and, also, Oberbefehlshaber [Commander-in-Chief] of the Luftwaffe.53 Freud had to consider the potential loss not only of his life but, also, of the entire psychoanalytical movement that he had so carefully created and curated over nearly four decades.

         6The horrors certainly did not cease. On Tuesday 22 March 1938, four armed, uniformed SS officers – members of the Schutzstaffel – arrived at Berggasse 19 – a building in which Sigmund Freud and his spouse had lived since 189154 – and broke into the family apartment yet again.55 According to the reminiscences of the devoted Paula Fichtl, these Nazi officers insisted that Sigmund Freud must accompany them to the publishing house at Berggasse 7, where Martin Freud had endured such terror not long previously. Fräulein Fichtl recalled that, as her elderly, frail employer would have struggled to descend the hallway staircase, she raced to see Freud’s physician, Professor Dr med. Hans Pichler, who scribbled a certificate exempting his patient from leaving the building.56 Instead, the SS officers arrested the 42-year-old Anna Freud and then drove her away in an open car to their headquarters at the Hotel Metropole for interrogation57 – the very building where, days previously, the Gestapo had imprisoned Austria’s very own chancellor, Kurt von Schuschnigg, as well as the multi-millionaire Austrian baron Ludwig von Rothschild.

         For the next six hours, Sigmund Freud and his wife did not know whether they would ever again lay eyes upon their much-loved daughter. Amid this horror, Dr Max Schur, the family physician, arrived at the Freud home to provide comfort. As Schur recalled, Sigmund Freud spent the entire day pacing the floor and smoking cigars incessantly.58 For years, Freud had relied upon his beloved Trabuko cigars as a source of great pleasure and emotional sustenance, and, if he had not smoked unceasingly on that day, to calm his nerves, one suspects that he might well have erupted into a rage or a breakdown or perhaps even an aneurysm.

         In an unpublished lecture delivered years later, Martin Freud revealed that he suspected that his dear sister might not survive, explaining, ‘the chance to come out again safe and sound was not greater than 50–50.’59

         Thankfully, at approximately 7.00 p.m. that very evening, Anna Freud returned safely to the Berggasse,60 albeit in a dreadful emotional state. As Paula Fichtl later recalled, ‘The Fräulein was terribly pale and was trembling so much that she could hardly speak.’61 Physically unharmed, Sigmund Freud’s youngest child had managed to survive the Gestapo interrogation and thus did not need to swallow the hefty dose of Veronal – a barbiturate – which Max Schur had given to her in case she might have preferred to take her own life rather than endure potentially unspeakable physical torture.62

         7Although Anna Freud drew upon her internal robustness and resumed her work with psychoanalytical patients the very next day,63 this experience of being forcibly removed from the Berggasse and then held captive by the Nazis traumatised her immensely, and the psychological impact persisted across her lifetime. Indeed, many decades later, during the 1970s, when a tall, benign and appreciative German psychiatrist and historian, Professor Dr med. Uwe Henrik Peters, came to interview her in preparation for the writing of a sympathetic and complimentary biography,64 she balked upon meeting him, ‘You look like an SS man.’65

         Likewise, in 1978, some 40 years after her kidnapping by the Schutzstaffel, Anna Freud wrote to Dr Walter Langer, her former patient who had missed his regular psychoanalytical session with her at the Berggasse on that near-fatal day, and she lamented, ‘I’m sorry that your analysis had to be conducted under such unsuitable conditions.’66 Clearly, the Nazis remained very much on her mind throughout the rest of her life.

         Petrifyingly, Anna Freud could not treat her patients while held in Gestapo custody, but Sigmund Freud had ceased working as well. As he later revealed to his American analysand, Dr Smiley Blanton, shortly after the Nazi invasion of Austria, ‘I had two patients, but I dismissed them and told them to go away. When the conscious mind is troubled, one cannot be interested in the unconscious mind.’67

         It seems extraordinary that, on 22 March 1938 – a truly unbearable day – neither the physically fragile octogenarian Sigmund Freud nor his septuagenarian wife succumbed to a fainting fit or, indeed, a heart attack or stroke, knowing that Heinrich Himmler’s hoodlums had abducted and interrogated their daughter and had almost shot their son to death. In fact, Freud’s colleague, the Welsh-born psychoanalyst Dr Ernest Jones, described that awful Tuesday as ‘certainly the blackest day in Freud’s life.’68 Likewise, Dr Max Schur proclaimed, ‘That was the worst day.’69

         Although I never had the privilege of meeting the late, great Sigmund Freud, I have, however, studied his rich and compelling biography and his unparalleled oeuvre in great detail, for the whole of my adult life, and I have spent many happy hours researching his correspondence and his manuscripts and related documentation in the archives at the Freud Museum London and, also, at the Library of Congress in Washington, DC, and in other institutions. And, on the basis of my own research, I certainly concur with the assessments of both Dr Jones and Dr Schur. Over the 8course of 83 years, Sigmund Freud had to navigate many, many challenges, but I know of no day more terrifying for him than Tuesday 22 March 1938.

         Extraordinarily, Sigmund Freud did survive this episode of sheer ghastliness, and, mercifully, with the support of numerous benefactors, ranging from world leaders to wealthy aristocrats, he and his entourage eventually managed to flee Vienna on Saturday 4 June 1938 and to enjoy asylum in London, where he would remain safely until his death, more than one year later, on Saturday 23 September 1939.70

         With Vienna’s Jews jumping from high-storey windows or being forced to scrub the streets, prior to deportation to the extermination camps, one cannot help but wonder how on earth the octogenarian, cancer-ridden Sigmund Freud managed to persevere. Having already lived such a long and, often, burdened existence, another man might well have killed himself by this point, rather than face the virulent, infectious Nazi pandemic, which showed no signs of disappearing.

         Indeed, when, after the invasion of Austria, Anna Freud had suggested that she and the whole family might consider suicide, her wise and sturdy and life-affirming father replied, ‘Why? Because they would like us to?’71

         Although a quick death by his own hand would have provided an immediate escape from decades of pain and loss, including his crippling carcinoma and the arrival of Adolf Hitler, Sigmund Freud had devoted more than 80 years to the art of survival, and he refused to concede. In fact, on 13 March 1938, only nine days before the SS abducted his daughter, Freud spoke to his loyal and longstanding psychoanalytical colleagues in the Wiener Psychoanalytische Vereinigung, many of whom had devoted so many years of their lives to the promotion of his landmark approach to human psychology. At the close of that meeting, Freud reminded his disciples of a moment from ancient Jewish history, nearly 2,000 years previously: ‘After the destruction of the Temple in Jerusalem by Titus, Rabbi Jochanan ben Sakkai asked for permission to open a school at Jabneh for the study of the Torah. We are going to do the same. We are, after all, used to persecution’.72

         This vignette about the robustness of the Jews in the first century certainly epitomises Freud’s philosophy of perseverance and encapsulates his ability to remain hopeful, in spite of the risk of despair and destruction and death.

         
            *

         

         9It relieves me to report that, having entered the world many years after the death of Adolf Hitler, I never had to meet the Nazis. I suppose that, had I done so, I would not be alive today. Thus far, at least, I have escaped a Holocaust.

         The month of March, in the year 1938, proved to be an exceptionally ugly one for Freud and his family. Likewise, the month of March became a terrifying one for me and for all of my fellow residents of the United Kingdom in the year 2020, as we experienced an invisible, Nazi-like invasion of our own, known as the coronavirus.

         On Monday 23 March 2020, the British Government imposed a lockdown on the entire nation in the wake of the upsurge of this deadly global pandemic. The British Prime Minister, The Right Honourable Boris Johnson, announced yet another such lockdown on Sunday 31 October 2020, insisting upon further stringent measures in an effort to slow the spread of this treacherous disease. A third lockdown came into force on Tuesday 5 January 2021. Though rather a different monster to Adolf Hitler and the Nazis, this infection, known as COVID-19, claimed innumerable lives with vicious speed and has continued to do so, threatening not only the physical health but, also, the mental health of billions of citizens worldwide. In some respects, this novel coronavirus may be far more frightening to many of us than Nazism, as no one, not even supporters of the Hitler regime, would be automatically immune. Indeed, our very own Prime Minister and many other world leaders, as well as the heir to the British monarchy, had actually contracted this potentially fatal disease.

         In an effort to make a small contribution to this horrible chapter in human history, I have persevered with my full-time, daily clinical work as a Freudian psychoanalytical practitioner and, thus far, I have helped to bring some calm and some hope to my patients, quite a number of whom have lost loved ones to the coronavirus while others have become suicidal or have experienced domestic violence in the wake of this terrifying outbreak.

         But I too, like every other person I know, have become very frightened by this pandemic; unsurprisingly so, as within a mere matter of months after the outbreak, at least twenty of my psychoanalytical colleagues contracted this disease and a small number have perished in consequence. Moreover, one of my most delightful former psychotherapy trainees became infected with the virus in March 2020, and then lapsed into a coma for many months, and would not be discharged from hospital 10until well over a year later, in the springtime of 2021.

         During this vexing era, I have spent a great many hours in the company of my lifelong professional hero, Sigmund Freud, and, during lockdown, I have derived much comfort from reading and re-reading, and re-reading yet again his many books and essays and letters, of which we have no shortage. I have found my reunion with Professor Freud to be, as ever, a source of tremendous joy and inspiration.

         Re-examining Freud’s life and work in this way has helped me to appreciate – now more than ever – that although Freud might not have recognised the term ‘coronavirus’ – he did, however, have to endure a very large number of grotesque and threatening virulent ‘pandemics’ of a rather different variety.

         First of all, Freud had to survive a childhood and adolescence filled with pain and trauma and, even, cholera. Subsequently, as a physician, he had to cope with innumerable national and international shaming experiences when suspicious colleagues criticised his psychological work in a vicious manner, describing him as a pervert and a fraud. He then had to live through the Great War of 1914–1918 and, also, the so-called ‘Spanish flu’ which ensued, during which time he lost several members of his family through either warfare or illness. Moreover, he had to survive an entire lifetime of sadistic anti-Semitism, which peaked during the 1930s. And, most painfully of all, he had to battle with cancer and thus undergo countless treatments from his well-meaning physicians, who prescribed a large number of primitive and painful surgical and radiotherapeutic procedures for nearly two decades – a far cry from the more sophisticated and, often, more successful cancer treatments of today.

         And yet, despite these many ‘pandemics’ of numerous varieties, Freud continued to persevere. And he continued to flourish and to thrive, remaining full of creativity and fortitude until the final week of his life.

         In this short book, written predominantly between July 2020 and September 2020, and then revised and edited in the months thereafter, I shall review the various ‘pandemics’ that afflicted Freud between 1856 and 1939, and I will attempt to extract some of the key principles of how he survived his own special versions of a ‘lockdown’ across his long lifetime.

         In the absence of possessing the scientific knowledge required to produce a vaccine, which our general medical practitioners and nurses and pharmacists and specially trained volunteers have already begun to inject into our upper arms, I sincerely trust that by spending time with 11Sigmund Freud, a man who, to me at least, represents the gift that keeps on giving, I might share some of my admiration for the genius of this great psychologist and that, in consequence, we might all enjoy at least a bit more hope and a bit more guidance as we struggle with the most challenging and unspeakable pandemics of our time, whether racism, child abuse, prejudice, poverty, global warming, terrorism, mental illness or infectious disease. 12
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            CHAPTER 1

            The fraudulent Jewish pervert

            Navigating decades of collegial hatred

         

         A traumatic childhood

         Long before the Nazis invaded Vienna in 1938, Sigmund Freud had to confront many prior challenges across the decades, some of which proved to be rather overwhelming.

         For instance, it will not be widely appreciated that Freud struggled through a rather difficult infancy and childhood.

         In fact, he spent his very first years, from birth until the age of three, in a lockdown … quite literally … living with his parents and his siblings in one extremely tiny, rented room in a modest house, situated in a remote Austrian village, surrounded by mountains. In view of this somewhat isolated chapter of his life, one suspects that Freud might well have understood the twenty-first-century coronavirus lockdown rather well, being somewhat cut off from the rest of the world.

         
            *

         

         At approximately 6.30 p.m., on Tuesday 6 May 1856, Amalia Nathansohn Freud delivered her very first child – a baby boy – assisted by Cäcilie Smolka, a local midwife1 who lived only houses away.2 This newly born infant received not one, but two, forenames: a German moniker, Sigismund, and its Hebrew near-equivalent, Schlomo.

         The little baby Freud enjoyed much love and affection, certainly from his mother, who came to refer to him as ‘mein goldener Sigi’3 – ‘my golden Sigi’. She even predicted that, one day, her son would become ‘einen grossen Mann’4 – ‘a great man’.

         Amalia Freud and her husband, Jakob Freud, a wool merchant, occupied a small, first-floor5 room in a very unprepossessing home – merely ten 14metres in length and ten metres in width6 – owned by one Zajíc, the local blacksmith and locksmith,7 in the town of Freiberg, situated in the far corner of the Austrian empire, surrounded by the beautiful Karpathen – the Carpathian Mountains – and by the Lubina river.

         In spite of these pleasant surroundings, the Freud family had to endure the cramped quarters of the Zajíc household, trapped in one room with no private toilet, while struggling to survive financially, owing to Jakob Freud’s relatively impecunious career. Thus, Sigismund Freud would have spent the first year of his life sleeping alongside his mother and father, with no privacy and no quiet for any of the members of the family. The situation would become even more restrictive when, in 1857, Amalia Freud delivered a second son, Julius Freud, and then, not long thereafter, in 1858, a daughter, Anna Freud.8

         After he had acquired the ability to walk, the young Sigismund Freud would often totter down the winding staircase of the Zajíc home into the ‘Schlosserwerkstätte’9 – the locksmith’s workshop – located on the ground floor. Surrounded by fascinating objects, the little boy would enjoy some freedom and some play, fashioning tiny metal toys for himself.

         The Zajíc family had worked as locksmiths and blacksmiths in Freiberg for at least four generations,10 and, eventually, the road on which they lived would be named in their honour as ‘Schlossergasse’11 which one might translate as ‘Locksmith’s Lane’. Hence, the young boy Freud grew up, quite literally, in a locksmith’s lockdown.

         While these deeply constrained living conditions might well have driven other children to despair, Sigismund Freud found a creative way in which to engage with the world by taking charge of his own toy-making – a very good preparation for the many brilliant theories and writings and psychological inventions that he would eventually forge in his own psychoanalytical workshop in Vienna in years to come.

         But, in spite of having received much tenderness from his mother, and, in spite of having the capacity to engage playfully in the Schlosserwerkstätte owned by the Zajíc family, the young lad had to endure much deprivation, not only from a loss of privacy and space, but, also, from financial pressures, owing to his father’s longstanding lack of professional success. The Jews of the Austrian empire had battled against relentless persecution across many centuries, unable to travel or relocate without special permits,12 and these anti-Semitic ‘lockdown’ restrictions prevented most of them from developing rich and impactful careers.

         15Indeed, in the period prior to the birth of Sigismund Freud, it seems that Jakob Freud, the father, had struggled quite badly. In 1852, four years before his baby son arrived, Jakob Freud traded some 1,309 sacks of wool, but his earnings dropped steadily thereafter, and, by March of 1855, he managed to sell only 215 sacks.13 Thus, by the time Amalia Freud became pregnant with her first child, in the latter months of 1855, Jakob Freud found himself in very perilous financial circumstances.

         Prior to the birth of his son, Jakob Freud already had to navigate a great deal of trauma. In 1852, he buried his first wife, Sally Kanner Freud, who had borne him two sons. He then married a woman called Rebekkah,14 and she, too, may have died not long thereafter, although her fate remains uncertain. By 1855, he had wed Amalia Nathansohn.15 Thus, Jakob Freud had endured much dissatisfaction, much deprivation, much grief and much burden of childcare, as well as the pressures of supporting a family, particularly amid an Austrian empire dominated by Jew-hating Catholics.

         So, to recapitulate, the young Sigismund Freud had to cope with poverty, anti-Semitism, a very troubled and pained father who had experienced much shame and loss during his lifetime, and a mother who endeavoured to do her best while trapped in a very tiny room, with no peace, surrounded by a gaggle of needy young babies.

         In all likelihood, whenever Jakob Freud and his wife engaged in sexual activity, they would have had to do so in front of their infant Sigismund. Owing to the restrictions of space, they simply had no other option.

         Roughly six months after the arrival of their first child, Amalia Freud became pregnant for the second time; and, on 15 October 1857, she delivered another boy, Julius Freud, who became a rivalrous object of hatred to Sigismund. It will come as little surprise that, some years later, as a schoolboy, Sigismund Freud enjoyed reciting a song about the ancient Roman senator ‘Brutus’ from Friedrich Schiller’s late-eighteenth-century play, Die Räuber [The Robbers], especially so because Brutus would eventually come to murder ‘Julius’ Caesar, the Roman leader who shared a forename with Freud’s baby brother. Being displaced from his mother’s breast by an annoying sibling – and a male sibling to boot – would have irritated the young Freud no end and, by his own admission, this rivalry stirred his death wishes toward the newly arrived infant.16

         To complicate matters, the extremely fertile Amalia Freud conceived her third child in the early months of 1858. At that point, Sigismund 16Freud had not yet even reached his second birthday. Alas, during this new pregnancy, Amalia Freud lost her own brother Julius Nathansohn – only 20 years of age – to pulmonary tuberculosis, on 15 March 1858,17 and then, tragically, she had to bury her second son, the six-month-old Julius Freud, who died from enteritis – an inflammation of the intestine – exactly four weeks later, on 15 April 1858.18

         We can only begin to imagine the state of mind of the members of this Freiberg family when, on 31 December 1858, Amalia Freud gave birth to her third baby – a little girl called Anna Freud – especially as the mother had only recently buried both her own brother and one of her two young sons a mere few months previously. The small, crowded bedroom atop the locksmith’s workshop must have felt very constricted and painful – a complex combination of both grief and joy. How the two-and-a-half-year-old Sigismund would have made sense of the disappearance of his brother Julius and the arrival of his sister Anna, one can but speculate.

         We do know that, round about this time, the young Sigismund fell off a stool and injured himself quite significantly. He bled so much that he required stitching from a local surgeon.19 Naturally, many young children will bruise themselves as part of ordinary daily life, but one cannot help but wonder whether the young Freud felt rather neglected, in view of his father’s preoccupation with a failing wool trade business and his mother’s concentration on her recently deceased baby boy and her newly conceived baby girl.

         At some point, Amalia Freud engaged the services of a Kinderfräulein – a nursemaid – to assist her with the tribulations of childcare. In later years, Sigmund Freud would remember this woman as ugly and old and recalled that she – a devoted Catholic – introduced him to the concept of hell.20 Eventually, the nanny committed an act of theft and would be incarcerated at the instigation of one of Jakob Freud’s sons from his first marriage.21 Thus, before the young Sigismund Freud had reached his third birthday, he had lost a brother and a nursemaid and had gained a sister. And not long thereafter, his elder half-brothers, Emanuel Freud and Filip22 Freud, along with their spouses and children – Sigismund Freud’s childhood playmates – all emigrated to England, desperate to earn a better living, having become bankrupt from their own unsuccessful efforts to provide adequately for themselves and for their families.23

         Jakob Freud, keen to become more productive as a businessman, decided that he would have to relocate to a larger city which would afford 17him more opportunity, just as his elder sons had done. And so, in 1859, he travelled to Leipzig in Germany, in the hope of obtaining a special permit. But, owing to the severe restrictions on Jews at that time, he failed to receive permission to move on a permanent basis.24 Fortunately, through Amalia Freud’s relatives, already based in Vienna – the capital of the Austrian empire – the Freud family finally managed to settle in that large city and became part of the greater European movement towards urbanisation.25 Although little Sigismund would benefit from the richer array of educational opportunities in Vienna, he never recovered from the loss of the beautiful physical surroundings of Freiberg, in which he had spent the first years of his life, and, over the coming decades, he would continue to yearn for the ‘schönen Wäldern der Heimat’26 – the ‘beautiful woods of home’.27

         In many respects, life in Vienna proved to be even more complicated for Sigismund Freud. Jakob Freud continued to struggle financially, and the family would be forced to live in a rather poor district of the empire’s capital. Indeed, the Freud clan would have had to share a flat with no bathroom or, even, a bathtub. As Anna Freud Bernays – Sigismund’s sister – would recall years later, ‘Once a fortnight, when we were small, a great wooden tub, with several kegs of hot and cold water, was brought into the house by a pair of strong carriers from a public bathing establishment. All this was put into the kitchen on the stone flags, and we were put into the tub, after being well soaped’.28

         Moreover, the young lad’s parents seemed to be quite committed to procreative sex – perhaps as a means of replacing their deceased son Julius Freud and, also, Jakob Freud’s elder sons who had emigrated to England – hence, the couple kept producing more and more babies, year after year. Regina Deborah Freud arrived in 1860, followed by Maria Freud in 1861, by Esther Adolfine Freud in 1862 and by Pauline Regine Sara Freud in 1864. The mother then gave birth to her eighth child, Alexander Gotthold Ephraim Freud, in 1866.29 With so many infants under foot, Sigismund Freud would have struggled for basic parental attention. And Amalia Freud became utterly exhausted and often had to retreat to a spa in order to recuperate from what we might conceptualise today as exhaustion or, even, post-partum depression.30

         Sigismund Freud had to contend not only with poverty, with an overcrowded family and with a fight for parental affection but, also, with a number of further challenging episodes. In 1865, not long after his 9th 18birthday, one of Sigismund’s uncles, Josef Freud, engaged in the trading of counterfeit money, and he ended up in prison.31 Apparently, the arrest of this nefarious relative became widely publicised in the press and, in consequence, the young Sigismund Freud had to tolerate much teasing from his schoolmates.32 Indeed, this early life shaming trauma proved so impactful that Freud continued to dream about his criminal uncle in years to come and would even document his own private night-time thoughts about this man in his landmark book, Die Traumdeutung,33 better known as The Interpretation of Dreams.34

         To compound matters, later that very same year, 1865, Freud’s maternal grandfather, Johann Jakob Nathansohn, passed away.35 And in 1866, Sigismund’s Freud’s young cousin, Henrietta Freud, daughter of his elder half-brother Emanuel Freud, died at only eighteen days of age, from marasmus;36 and just over two years later, in 1868, several more cousins – the 6-year-old Matilda Freud and the 3-year-old Harriet Emily Freud – also lost their lives within days of one another from scarlet fever.37 Thus, we might describe Sigmund Freud’s childhood as an endless series of broken attachments and emotional disruptions, compounded by the arrival of too many new siblings and by the pain of too many bereavements on an annual basis.

         Battling against so much sibling rivalry, so much loss and so much poverty and, moreover, becoming increasingly aware, no doubt, that his Jewish religion placed him at risk of much hatred and persecution, Sigismund Freud attempted to survive these considerable developmental challenges in a variety of ways.

         At times, he would display neurotic symptoms of protest. For instance, on one occasion, round about the age of seven or eight years, the young lad urinated in his parents’ bedroom, prompting his father to lambast him in a condemnatory fashion, ‘The boy will come to nothing.’38 Freud certainly experienced his father’s response as extremely humiliating.39 Alas, Jakob Freud had failed to recognise that Sigismund’s act of urination might have represented a somatic communication of his sense of anger and, also, of his need for more care and attention.

         During the latter part of his childhood, the young Freud became isolated and rageful and he retreated into his tiny bedroom so that he would not have to deal with the rest of the family, especially his seemingly endless gaggle of sisters. Indeed, whenever any of his five female siblings played the piano, Freud complained that the bashing of the keyboard 19disrupted his studies significantly and, therefore, he insisted that his mother arrange for its removal from the family flat.40

         Freud immersed himself in scholarship and became an outstanding pupil at the Leopoldstädter Communal-Real-Gymnasium41 – his school in Vienna – no doubt eager to find a sanctuary all his own. Education brought Freud tremendous pleasure and he certainly excelled in this arena,42 hopeful that, with access to formal learning, he would eventually become the very first member of his family to attend university and that he might, therefore, avoid the sort of humble and struggling career that had dogged his father over many decades.

         Sigismund Freud had not only to battle with the complex dynamics of his nuclear family, full of too many births and too many bereavements, but also had to contend with the outside world, which he came to experience as a rather dangerous place. For instance, quite early on, he learned from his father that anti-Semitism prevailed, especially after Jakob Freud confessed that, years previously, a brutal Christian man had humiliated him by knocking his new fur cap into the mud.43

         Moreover, the young Sigismund Freud became increasingly aware, not only of the prevalence of anti-Jewish attacks but, also, of the deadliness of military combat. Indeed, in 1866, during his very first year as a pupil at the Gymnasium in the Leopoldstadt district, the young Freud – barely a decade in age – struggled through the bloody war between Austria and Prussia. The 10-year-old lad actually caught sight of wounded Austrian soldiers who had returned home from battle and who would then be wheeled to the local hospitals in carts filled with hay. Eager to help these brave warriors, Freud pleaded with his mother and with his teachers to manufacture ‘Charpie’44 – a precursor to medicated cotton – which could be used as a surgical dressing for these sick fighting men.

         One might argue that, in addition to the domestic ‘pandemics’ endured by Sigismund Freud, such as multiple losses and numerous rivalries, we must not underestimate the prevalence of hatred towards the Jews during the mid-nineteenth century, which remained a constant background to the young lad’s growing years. According to Dr Friedrich Heer, a noted Viennese historian, the very name ‘Sigismund’ had become an iconic symbol of anti-Semitic abuse, used widely in jokes.45 Unsurprisingly, Sigismund Freud gradually began to style himself with the more traditionally Germanic equivalent, ‘Sigmund’; and we know that, at least as early as 1872, during his 16th year, he signed a letter to 20a friend as Sigmund, rather than as Sigismund.46 Gradually, over the coming years, he would cease to use his birth name entirely.47

         As Freud stumbled through adolescence, he experienced further challenges. For instance, as a bookish, geeky student, he spent much of his time hiding in his little cabinet room in the family apartment. As one of his sisters reminisced, ‘his friends were not play-but study-mates.’48

         Fortunately, he obtained a place to read medicine at the Universität zu Wien – the University of Vienna.49 Nonetheless, in spite of this special opportunity, numerous challenges still persisted. For instance, although Freud distinguished himself in many subjects and undertook very sophisticated scientific research projects,50 he failed his examinations in the field of forensic medicine51 – yet another trauma. Moreover, upon his eventual graduation from medical school, he had to enlist in the army, and in 1880, while in his early 20s, he had to endure a period of house arrest for having gone on leave without permission.52

         Freud’s infancy and childhood and adolescence may not be the most traumatic on record. To the best of our knowledge, he never suffered grotesque physical assaults or paedophilic sexual abuse, and he certainly did not have to contend with the anguish of early parental bereavement. But he did live in a world of unsafety, full of painful domestic challenges and marred by a persistent persecutory landscape of anti-Semitism.53 No doubt his capacity to survive these experiences, combined with the genuine love and affection that he did receive from his family, as well as his wonderful educational opportunities, provided him with a certain degree of robustness which helped him to manage the even more grotesque threats that would soon ensue.

         A traumatic professional life

         In 1881, Sigmund Freud qualified as a physician.54 After several years of working at the Allgemeines Krankenhaus55 – Vienna’s general hospital – he received a travelling fellowship to study in Paris and Berlin during the latter months of 1885 and the early months of 1886.56 Upon his return to Vienna, he married his sweetheart, Fräulein Martha Bernays.57 But, as a Jew, Freud could not readily obtain a sufficiently remunerative post at the university, and so, on 25 April 1886 – Easter Day – he opened a private clinical practice at Rathausstrasse 7,58 in the heart of Vienna, and 21he dedicated himself to the treatment of patients suffering from neurological and psychological symptoms.

         During the 1880s, most psychiatric professionals dismissed their neurotic patients as little more than malingerers and often prescribed hydrotherapy, trips to spas or mild electrical stimulation to relax the muscles. Some even experimented with hypnosis. But very few dared to talk to their patients at length.59

         Fortunately, Freud had become friendly with an older colleague, Dr Josef Breuer, a noted physician and researcher, who had already developed a very impressive private medical practice and who took the young Freud under his wing.60 Breuer had invested quite a lot of time and energy into his patients; and, unlike many of his contemporaries, he visited them at their homes on a frequent basis. In fact, he spent many hours listening to his patients as they spoke and, consequently, he came to know the details of their early histories and private lives very well indeed. Breuer discovered that, simply by engaging in conversation with neurotic women and men, their troubling symptoms would gradually begin to disappear.61

         Dr Breuer took especial pleasure in describing his work with one young woman in particular, Fräulein Bertha Pappenheim, who suffered from hysteria and whose multiple symptoms included a nervous cough, visual disturbances (such as a convergent squint), muscular weakness, paralyses, speech difficulties, headaches, numbness, somnambulism, exhaustion, loss of appetite and many more besides. Such a wide range of crippling bodily manifestations would suggest the underlying presence of an extremely severe and debilitating organic disease. But Breuer discovered, to his surprise and delight, that as a result of regular talking consultations, this woman’s illness soon abated quite considerably.62 Fräulein Pappenheim did, alas, suffer relapses and required institutionalisation along the way,63 but, in the end, she recovered quite significantly and, ultimately, became a very progressive feminist and an activist who helped to protect many abused young girls who had become victims of sexual trafficking.64

         Captivated by Dr Breuer’s experimentation with regular home visits to his patients and with ordinary, engaging, compassionate conversations – what Fräulein Pappenheim came to refer to as the ‘talking cure’65 – Dr Freud also began to deploy this method while working with his own neurotic, hysterical cases and, in due course, he achieved some very impressive results, curing many of these individuals of their chronic illnesses.66

         22 Before long, Freud became extremely adept at facilitating the talking cure – a rarity in the late nineteenth century – and he gradually began to abandon the traditional, and often superficial, remedies of that period, offering, instead, a quiet, private consulting room in which his patients could develop a sense of trust in his manner and could then begin to confess their deepest, most troublesome secrets and traumata, often those of a sexual nature. Indeed, round about 1890, one of Freud’s patients, a woman of Turkish–Jewish extraction known as Frau Josephine Benvenisti, gifted him a couch.67 And not long thereafter, Freud offered his visitors the opportunity to recline on this carpet-covered divan to facilitate communication, while he perched himself out of sight, seated behind the couch, so that his patients would not have to stare at him directly when speaking about often shameful matters.

         Freud began to describe this innovative process of regular talking therapy conversations as psychoanalysis – a new approach to the treatment of mental illness and psychological distress. He first enshrined this concept, in published form, in a medical journal, the Revue Neurologique, on 30 March 1896, characterising this novel method of treatment as ‘psycho-analyse’68 the French term for what would ultimately become known in English as ‘psychoanalysis’.

         Nowadays, the craft of psychoanalysis (and the numerous psychotherapies that have emerged therefrom) has become so very much a part of healthcare for psychological conditions, and so widely disseminated in popular culture too, that such distinguished public figures as Prince William, His Royal Highness The Duke of Cambridge, and his younger brother Prince Harry, His Royal Highness The Duke of Sussex – the grandsons of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II – have embraced psychological interventions as a necessary component of good mental well-being.69

         But, back in the olden days, many regarded this approach as rather odd, if not extremely disturbing.

         After all, most nineteenth-century medical professionals conceptualised mental illness as a degenerative brain disease, which tainted families.70 Physicians such as Dr Cesare Lombroso argued that one could identity mad delinquents, for example, simply by looking at their prominent physical characteristics, such as their ostensibly protruding chins and large cheekbones, and even their poorly cultivated beards.71

         Few encapsulated the notion of hereditary taint and brain 23degenerationism at this time as well as Walburga, Lady Paget, the wife of the British ambassador to Austria, Sir Augustus Paget, who wrote about the horrors endured by the Austrian imperial family, which included the tragic tale of Kronprinz Rudolf, son of the emperor and empress, and heir to the Habsburg throne, who shot his mistress to death and then committed suicide. As Lady Paget explained, ‘The poor Emperor bowed down with grief and shame, the Empress, through whose blood the drop of madness must have been infused into her son’s veins, bore up with great courage. I have often noticed that those who have a taint of eccentricity can stand much greater shocks at the moment. They take refuge in the mad corner of their brain.’72 Just like the physicians of the late nineteenth century, Lady Paget assumed that Rudolf had engaged in murder-suicide simply by virtue of having inherited his mother’s bad blood. Few had stopped to consider the impact of traumatic biographical experiences, including the fact that this Austrian prince had engaged in numerous illicit sexual encounters and had contracted one or more sexually transmitted diseases and had damaged not only his own body, but also, potentially, that of his mistress, not to mention the reputation of the imperial family itself.73

         In view of the widespread assumption of the biopathological nature of madness, physicians simply confined mad people to lunatic asylums and then subjected them to mechanical restraints and to other forms of cruelty. Few doctors actually spent very much time talking to these patients and, certainly, none invited them into a comfortable private office or permitted them to rest their weary minds upon a couch.

         Although the ‘talking cure’ has become increasingly prominent today, we must remember that, back in the 1890s and 1900s, Freud proved to be shockingly original. Dr Ernest Jones, one of Freud’s most loyal British disciples, who encountered psychoanalysis in the first decade of the twentieth century, recalled, ‘I thought it so astonishing that there was a man who seemed to listen to his patients – listen to what they said. I had never heard of anybody doing that, and that was really the feature about his work that struck me most.’74

         In many ways, by having created psychoanalysis, Sigmund Freud angered many of his medical colleagues tremendously; indeed, he shamed them by boasting that one can cure so-called lunatics simply by offering intelligent and kindly and detailed and attentive conversation. He came to appreciate that one need not incarcerate these suffering patients in an 24overcrowded institution, one need not send them to spas, and one need not administer electrical shocks to their muscles, nor prescribe primitive medications and brutal surgeries, such as hysterectomies, ovariectomies and clitoridectomies,75 which proved extremely popular at that time.

         To complicate matters further, Freud removed his white laboratory coat – so characteristic of nineteenth-century physicians – and he simply greeted his patients in an ordinary suit of clothing and treated them with decency and equality.76 Apart from a handshake at the start and finish of sessions,77 he did not even touch his patients – a rarity both then and now.78 And, to make matters even more provocative, once Freud began to train his pupils, he did not insist upon medical qualifications. He argued that any honourable, good-natured soul could practise psychoanalysis, if well trained and well supervised and if one had undergone psychoanalysis oneself. A candidate need not have attended medical school, because Freud did not regard psychoanalysis as a medical intervention as such.79

         And all of this radical psychological wisdom came out of the mouth of a Jew, no less …

         Understandably, as Freud attracted disciples and adherents, as the psychoanalytical movement began to grow both nationally and internationally, and as Freud began to publish more and more books and papers, he provoked a veritable pandemic of derision and humiliation and even hatred from physicians worldwide, which his colleague Jones described as both an ‘intensive wave of hostility’80 and outpourings of abuse and misunderstanding’.81

         Indeed, this highly radical and ostensibly bizarre method of treatment – a talking cure championed by a Jew and his gang of predominantly Jewish acolytes, including women who lacked medical degrees – stimulated tremendous disdain from the very outset among both physicians and members of the general public.

         During the first decade of the twentieth century, before Freud and his colleagues had even formed an official Wiener Psychoanalytische Vereinigung82 – a Vienna Psycho-Analytical Society – contempt and hatred exploded far and wide.83 For instance, as early as 27 May 1906, Professor Dr med. Gustav Aschaffenburg, a noted psychiatrist from Heidelberg, in Germany, attacked Freudian psychoanalysis outright while addressing a congress of neurologists and psychiatrists in Baden-Baden. According to Aschaffenburg, psychoanalysis should be dismissed as both ‘bedenklich’84 – ‘alarming’ – and ‘entbehrlich’85 – in other words, 25‘expendable’.86 In a similar vein, at a meeting of German neurologists in Berlin, held in 1910, Dr med. Emil Raimann, a prominent Viennese psychiatrist, who, the following year, would be elevated to the post of Professor at the Universität zu Wien, proposed that he and his colleagues had an obligation to expose Freud and ‘to make public every failed case of a psychoanalytic treatment.’87 According to the reminiscences of Professor Julius Wagner-Jauregg, the noted Viennese physician, Emil Raimann – his assistant – would often revile Freud with ‘sarcasm’88 and, also, with ‘mockery’89 and even ‘malice’.90

         Dr Ernest Jones, who attended a great many of these neurological and psychiatric congresses during the first decade of the twentieth century, reminisced that medical colleagues would often dismiss Freud’s ideas as ‘evil’91 and that the hatred of psychoanalytical concepts soon became ‘a staple topic of conversation’.92

         Frustrated by such a barrage of assaults, Freud lamented to his cherished Hungarian comrade, Dr Sándor Ferenczi, that, ‘It is constantly raining insults from Germany’.93

         At roughly the same time, Herr Edoardo Weiss, a young medical student in Vienna, expressed an interest in psychoanalysis, but his teacher, Professor Otto Marburg – a very eminent neurologist based at the Universität zu Wien – warned him to approach these radical ideas with great caution, underscoring that he regarded Freud as little more than a ‘Casanova’.94 By comparing the faithfully married Sigmund Freud to Giacomo Casanova, the notorious eighteenth-century Italian ladies’ man, Professor Marburg wished to emphasise how much he objected to the fact that Freud spoke to patients about their private, sexual lives – a great crime against humanity during the late nineteenth century and early twentieth century when women wore long dresses and corsets and never exposed their bodies, let alone their minds.

         Yet another one of Edoardo Weiss’s teachers of neurology, Professor Lothar von Frankl-Hochwart, attacked psychoanalysis even more nastily. While discussing a particular neurotic patient, von Frankl-Hochwart jeered, ‘Freud would say this patient became hysterical because as a child she had seen her grandmother urinating.’95 Indeed, this neurologist would humiliate Freud on many occasions. According to Dr Felix Deutsch, a Viennese physician, the esteemed von Frankl-Hochwart often ‘cursed’96 Freud and his theories and looked upon any sympathisers with great suspicion; indeed, Deutsch sensed that, in view of his own personal 26interest in this shocking new variety of sexual psychology, von Frankl-Hochwart had come to regard him as ‘psychoanalytically infected’.97 Thus, to some Continental medical practitioners at that time, psychoanalysis had become a virulent pandemic in its own right.

         Viennese physicians expressed their hatred and disgust for psychoanalytical concepts across many decades. Even into the 1920s and 1930s, after the growth of interest in Freudian ideas, the older members of the psychiatric faculty at the Universität zu Wien continued to lambast these so-called discoveries, and, according to one of the younger psychiatrists, Dr Richard Sterba, the elder colleagues ‘attacked psychoanalysis wherever they saw an opportunity.’98

         Gradually, the hostility towards Freud and psychoanalysis trickled from discussions among members of the medical community into the discourse of the general public. Indeed, many Continental people soon came to regard Freud and his work as ‘teuflisch’99 – the German word for ‘satanic’.100

         Dr Hanns Sachs, one of Sigmund Freud’s earliest disciples, confirmed that the Viennese public regarded psychoanalysis as nothing less than ‘immoral’,101 and that they considered Freud himself to be ‘a rather disgusting freak’102 who dared to speak about unspeakable matters, particularly sexuality. As Sachs reminded us, ‘The use of words like homosexuality or syphilis was still strictly prohibited in the daily papers and the strangest forms of circumlocution had to be employed, e.g. Handarbeiterin – “a woman who works with her hands” – for prostitute.’103 He also underscored that, ‘“Where babies come from” belonged to the unmentionable subjects about which adolescents whispered shyly in dark corners.’104 Consequently, for Freud to have published a book on sexuality in 1905 – the Drei Abhandlungen zur Sexualtheorie,105 known in English as the Three Essays on the Theory of Sexuality106 – created much anxiety among his contemporaries.107

         Dr Max Graf, a musicologist and, moreover, one of Freud’s earliest acolytes, also recalled the ways in which the inhabitants of Vienna regarded psychoanalysis as a sexually shocking body of theory. Graf underscored that, ‘It was considered bad taste to bring up Freud’s name in the presence of ladies.’108

         One must recall that, during the 1880s, 1890s and 1900s – the very height of the era known to English speakers as Victorianism109 – the corporeality of females remained an object of mystery and scandal. 27In fact, many bourgeois refused to acknowledge that women actually inhabited sexual bodies. As Freud’s eldest son, Martin Freud, recalled, ‘women-folk wore long skirts’,110 and the covering of their flesh proved so extensive that although he shared a home for many years with his spinster maternal aunt, Fräulein Minna Bernays, he admitted, ‘I have never had any realization that she had legs.’111

         Even Freud’s devoted wife, Frau Professor Martha Freud, felt obliged to protect her own daughters and sons from learning more about the details of their father’s professional contributions, which included explicit studies of both child and adult sexuality. In 1984, I had the privilege of interviewing one of Anna Freud’s longstanding colleagues, Dr Ilse Hellman, who had known Martha Freud during the 1940s, and who recalled that the Frau Professor would often insist, ‘Psychoanalyse gehört nicht in das Kinderzimmer’,112 which translates as, ‘Psychoanalysis stops at the door of the nursery’, thus implying that one must never speak about such overtly sexual matters in front of the children.

         In due course, the innuendos and slurs against Freud intensified, with many critics having come to regard the father of psychoanalysis and his disciples as little more than ‘sexual perverts’.113 For instance, on 29 March 1910, at a meeting of physicians in Hamburg, Germany, Professor Wilhelm Weygandt, a distinguished psychiatrist, described Freud’s psychoanalytical method as little more than the massaging of the patient’s genitalia114 – a hugely cruel and, arguably, libellous characterisation of this type of psychotherapy.

         Strikingly, one cannot help but wonder whether some of these critics actually envied Sigmund Freud for his important and creative and original contributions. A Swiss colleague, Dr Carl Gustav Jung, reported that, on one occasion, while discussing the progenitors of the talking cure, the aforementioned Gustav Aschaffenburg failed to describe these two hated Viennese men as ‘Breuer und Freud’115 (i.e. ‘Breuer and Freud.’116). Instead, he committed a veritable slip of the tongue and spoke of them, quite unconsciously, as ‘Breuer und ich’117 (i.e. ‘Breuer and I’118). In other words, Aschaffenburg might secretly have wished that he had made such an important discovery.

         Not only did Freud have to endure innumerable attacks but so, too, did his closest colleagues, many of whom took bullets on Freud’s behalf. On 12 February 1911, Dr Sándor Ferenczi, the first practising psychoanalyst in Budapest, Hungary, delivered an address about his work to a group of 28physicians, whereupon he received an eviscerating response. One medical doctor rose to his feet and dismissed Freudian psychology as little more than ‘Schweinereien’119 – a German term that one might translate as ‘piglike filth’120 – and then, immediately thereafter, yet another physician exclaimed that, ‘Analysis is pornography; so analysts belong in jail.’121

         Perhaps most shockingly of all, the Viennese psychoanalyst Dr Fritz Wittels revealed that many regarded Sigmund Freud as someone who, like Socrates, ‘corrupts the young’.122

         In view of such verbal cruelty towards psychoanalysis, one certainly understands why Sigmund Freud lamented to Carl Gustav Jung that he considered his enemies to be little more than ‘pachyderms’.123

         Hostility against the early followers of Freud became so pervasive and persistent that, on 9 May 1925, the Berliner Psychoanalytische Vereinigung [Berlin Psycho-Analytical Society] hosted an evening in which members discussed some of the cruel attacks against psychoanalysis which, by this point, had begun to appear quite regularly in the press. Indeed, Dr Heinrich Koerber, one of the first psychoanalysts in Germany,124 delivered a formal presentation on this very topic in front of his colleagues,125 keen to consider how the Freudian community might promote a better public image.

         Regrettably, even Sigmund Freud’s very own children had to tolerate these gross remarks about the devilish and pornographic nature of their father’s work. Indeed, on one occasion, probably during the 1920s or thereabouts, Dr Rudolf von Urbantschitsch, an early supporter of psychoanalysis, invited Fräulein Anna Freud – the youngest of Freud’s six children – to a Jause – an Austrian tea – at his home, in the presence of the former Kronprinzessin Stéphanie, the widow of the late Kronprinz Rudolf who, years previously, had assassinated both himself and his mistress at the royal hunting lodge in the Austrian village of Mayerling. Upon meeting Anna Freud, and upon learning of the identity of Fräulein Freud’s father, the one-time daughter-in-law of the Kaiser muttered, ‘Oh, that is this famous doctor about sex!’126 Stéphanie, then remarried and restyled as Ihre königliche Hoheit die Prinzessin [Her Royal Highness the Princess] Lónyai de Nagy-Lónya, ridiculed psychoanalysis in Fräulein Freud’s presence. Dr von Urbantschitsch, keen not to offend his aristocratic guest, did not rush to defend the reputation of the founder of psychoanalysis; consequently, Anna Freud felt very hurt indeed.127

         Strikingly, the hatred of Freud even impacted upon his grandchildren. 29As a schoolboy in Vienna, Ernst Wolfgang Halberstadt (later known as W. Ernest Freud) – the eldest of Freud’s grandchildren – lived in terror of verbal abuse against his family. One of Ernst Halberstadt’s friends, Leopold Bellak (who later became an eminent psychiatrist and psychoanalyst), reminisced, ‘He feared being teased about his grandfather’s theories since psychoanalysis was still considered by many Viennese a dirty sexual preoccupation.’128

         Anti-Freudianism spread not only across the Continent – in Austria, Germany and Hungary – but, also, throughout the English-speaking world. According to Dr Abraham Brill, one of the founders of the psychoanalytical movement in the United States of America, ‘Many of Freud’s opponents, some of them pronounced psychopaths, took advantage of his frankness and then tried to expose him to the world as an irreligious Jew obsessed by sex.’129 For instance, Professor Moses Allen Starr, an eminent neurologist, dismissed Freud as a ‘Viennese libertine’130 during a speech delivered at the august New York Academy of Medicine in Manhattan. Likewise, Dr Silas Weir Mitchell, one of the most famous American physicians of the late nineteenth century and early twentieth century,131 proclaimed the work of Freud as sheer ‘filth’.132

         Most damningly, Professor Joseph Collins, a sometime President of the American Neurological Association, publicly attacked Professor James Jackson Putnam – a noted Harvard University neurologist and early Freud supporter – for having presented a paper full of ‘pornographic stories about pure virgins’.133 Collins recommended that the American Neurological Association should adopt a formal stand against the work of Freud, which he regarded as little better than supernaturalism.134

         The Americans, like their Continental counterparts, also regarded psychoanalysis as troublesome and as a potential justification for sexual impropriety. When, for instance, in 1920, Harvard University mounted an infamous purge against homosexual students on the campus in Cambridge, Massachusetts, those suspected of what everyone at that time regarded as sexual abnormality would be questioned as to whether they masturbated and, also, whether they had ever read the writings of Freud. If they had done so, that would certainly be proof of both degeneracy and perversion.135

         Even those with close connections to the Freud family expressed outrage. When Dr Ruth Mack,136 an American physician, told her father, the distinguished Judge Julian Mack, that she wished to travel to Vienna 30in order to study psychoanalysis, he became absolutely ‘broken up’137 with worry, dismissing Freud’s work by proclaiming, ‘This is pornography!’138

         Strikingly, the Britons hated Freud even more than the Americans. According to Dr David Forsyth, one of England’s very first practising psychoanalysts, many people accused the Freudians of ‘charlatanry’.139

         Unsurprisingly, quite a number of English people – physicians first and foremost – attacked Freud and his followers for their putative obsession with sexuality. For instance, none other than Dr David Thomson, President of the Medico-Psychological Association of Great Britain and Ireland – the forerunner of the Royal College of Psychiatrists – critiqued Freud in print.140 Indeed, in a virulent assassination, published in The British Medical Journal, Thomson accused Freud of having promoted ‘dirty doctrines’141 of a ‘pornographic’142 nature. And a fellow psychiatrist, Dr Charles Mercier – one of the most famous physicians in the whole of England – jeered against Freud as a mere ‘Fraud’.143 Mercier also assassinated Freudianism in the pages of The British Medical Journal – the most respected of medical periodicals at that time – arguing that, ‘Phallic worship, under one disguise or another, perpetually revives from time to time, and is perhaps most sickening when it masquerades as science.’144

         Sir Robert Armstrong-Jones, Lecturer on Mental Diseases at St. Bartholomew’s Hospital, part of the University of London, and one of Freud’s most outspoken adversaries, described psychoanalysis as little more than ‘repulsive’145 and deserving of ‘disrepute’.146 One need not search very deeply in order to sense something of Armstrong-Jones’s xenophobia, if not anti-Semitism, when he wrote, ‘The foreign teachers who have been responsible for employing these “sex-mad methods” to reveal the unconscious mind, have, so far as this country is concerned, already received the recognition of a posthumous notice of their labours, and it would not be incorrect to state that among psychiatrists – in this country at any rate – Freudism is dead.’147

         Not only did British physicians critique Freud’s work as sexually perverse and fraudulent – the product of a ‘foreign’148 mind – but, in fact, some even pronounced psychoanalysis as risky and, potentially, murderous. In 1925, a young barrister from Stoke Newington, in North London, committed suicide, and on 9 January 1926, an account of the inquest appeared in the esteemed British medical weekly, The Lancet, which reported that a certain witness who spoke at the coroner’s inquest revealed that this now-deceased lawyer had once undergone 31psychoanalysis, suggesting that such an engagement with Freud’s work might well have contributed to the suicide. The witness exclaimed, ‘It can be a very dangerous weapon.’149

         The suspicion of psychoanalysis became so widespread that, even in faraway Australia, supporters of Freud would be persecuted from time to time. In the early years of the twentieth century, Donald Fraser, a Presbyterian clergyman who had expressed an interest in psychoanalytical ideas, provoked such suspicion that his superiors forced him to leave the ministry entirely.150

         Intense anti-psychoanalytical hatred persisted across Sigmund Freud’s long lifetime and even after his death. In 1939, in the wake of Freud’s demise, Mr Andrew Rugg-Gunn, one of Great Britain’s most prominent ophthalmic surgeons – a Fellow of The Royal College of Surgeons of England and also a Senior Surgeon at the Western Ophthalmic Hospital in London – wrote that:

         
            It is both appropriate and necessary to record that Freud’s unhealthy obsession with sex has been responsible to an overwhelming extent for the depravity of mind and perversity of taste that has affected, among others, English people and particularly English women since the last war. In itself a sufficiently grave evil, this result has had consequences immeasurably malignant, for it undoubtedly paved the way for wide acceptance of that complete Jewish ideology out of which sprang bolshevism [sic], nazism [sic] and the present war.151

         

         Freud and his followers had to tolerate not only accusations of perversion and, also, fraudulence, but, moreover, those of actual clinical madness. As Ernest Jones recalled, some critics even accused Freud and his early band of followers of being mentally ill ‘paranoic psychopaths’.152

         
            *

         

         Thankfully, not everyone hated Freud and his contributions quite so vitriolically.

         Despite his many enemies – mostly physicians who responded to his originality, his frankness and, even, his success in a rivalrous manner – Freud attracted disciples and patients from all over the world. After 32the inauguration of the Wiener Psychoanalytische Vereinigung in 1908, other specialist groups emerged,153 and, by 1910, Freud and his comrades created the Internationale Psychoanalytische Vereinigung – an International Psycho-Analytical Association.154

         Colleagues not only disseminated Freud’s discoveries across different countries and continents, but many of them applied his ideas in a truly creative fashion. For instance, Dr Hermine von Hug-Hellmuth, Fräulein Anna Freud and Frau Melanie Klein drew upon Freud’s work with adults and began to offer treatment to young children, thus expanding the range of the psychoanalytical patient population.155 Others established specialist clinics in Berlin, in Vienna and in London, for the impoverished,156 including the noted Tavistock Square Clinic for Functional Nervous Disorders, which opened in Central London in 1920 and which provided psychotherapy for many of those traumatised by the Great War of 1914–1918.157

         During the 1920s and beyond, psychoanalytical training became more formalised and more extensive, and the societies in Berlin158 and Vienna159 and elsewhere160 created bespoke institutes, ensuring that Freud’s pupils would receive sufficiently well-monitored instruction in the art and technique of psychoanalysis.161

         Moreover, Freudianism enjoyed an immense penetration into popular culture, with frequent citations in novels and plays and even films. For instance, in 1926, Herr Georg Wilhelm Pabst, a noted German director of silent movies, released Geheimnisse einer Seele [Secrets of a Soul], a compelling cinematic drama about a man who embarks upon psychoanalytical treatment in order to become cured of a troubling phobia of knives.162 In that same year, on Broadway, the popular American songwriters, Richard Rodgers and Lorenz Hart, created a new musical comedy, Peggy-Ann, which contained many references to Freudian psychology, and which even boasted an extended dream sequence. As Rodgers, the composer, recalled, Peggy-Ann may well have become a ‘breakthrough’163 musical by having engaged with ‘subconscious fears and fantasies.’164

         Some cultural figures even challenged the critics of Freud through literature. For instance, Miss Rose Macaulay, a prolific and successful English novelist, made a number of supportive references to psychoanalysis in her fictional text, Keeping Up Appearances, published in 1928. One of the characters in the book, ‘Raymond Folyot’, worked as 33a zoologist. In one of the sections, Macaulay described this character in conversation thus: ‘And now the pseudo-scientists,’ Raymond said, ‘like Freud, poor old man, who’s hypnotised himself with observing diseased erotomaniacs and thinking them normal, till he can see nothing straight.…But, if you come to think of it, it’s not really queer that anyone should be sex-obsessed; it’s rather queer that we’re not all, considering that we all originated from an impulse of sex emotion.’165

         Happily, therefore, not everyone regarded Sigmund Freud as a fraudulent Jewish pervert. But many did respond to him in a hateful way, and one cannot help but imagine the depth of Freud’s sense of shame and suffering, knowing that so many people across the globe found him loathsome.

         Not only did Freud have to struggle with many targeted professional assaults from rivalrous colleagues, but, moreover, from time to time, he had to navigate the challenges of everyday, unpredictable domestic eruptions. For instance, circa 1892, Freud’s family home on the Berggasse nearly collapsed – quite literally. One night, the entire building began to shake as the defective gas supply in the flat below – inhabited by a watchmaker – erupted, causing a ‘frightful explosion’.166 As the father of several young children, Sigmund Freud must have experienced a strong sense of fear and panic. Indeed, his eldest son recalled that when Freud entered the children’s bedroom to check on their safety, he did so ‘with black hair standing up on end and a beard in suitable disorder.’167

         As Freud’s six children began to grow, each of them evoked concern and consternation at various points, as any parent would expect. For instance, his son, Martin Freud – a rather rambunctious youth – enjoyed jumping on a trapeze within the family apartment. On one occasion, he fell against a piece of furniture and slashed his forehead rather seriously. As the victim later recalled, ‘blood began flowing alarmingly.’168

         No doubt, with gas explosions and bleeding children, Freud had to bear the ordinary struggles of daily life in addition to all of the aforementioned assaults from his own infancy and throughout his professional career. Although a man of Freud’s stature could certainly survive a non-fatal gas explosion and an injured son, these everyday events no doubt added much stress to his already overburdened mind.

         With a difficult childhood, followed soon thereafter by a persecuted adulthood, Sigmund Freud had to endure much loss and disrespect and challenge, despite his multiple successes and pleasures.

         34But, as the Great War approached, Freud’s life would become even more painful, in ways that he simply could not have imagined.

         He had certainly survived the emotional pandemics of his youth and the collegial pandemics of his early professional life … but worse would follow.
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